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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The United States respectfully submits this memorandum of law in support of its motion

to disqualify defendant SHARPE JAMES’s counsel, Thomas R. Ashley, Esq., based upon an

actual, or serious potential for, a conflict of interest that cannot be waived.  Mr. Ashley must be

disqualified because (1) he represented (and currently represents) two fact witnesses in the

Grand Jury investigation who may be called to testify at trial (the “Real Estate Attorney” and

“Individual 1”),1 both of whom were substantially involved in certain real estate and related

financial transactions in this case, and (2) because Mr. Ashley himself is a fact witness who

potentially could be called as a trial witness.  Alternatively, if the Court does not conclude that a

substantial actual or potential conflict exists warranting disqualification, at a minimum, a hearing

should be held to determine whether waivers would be adequate or proper in this matter.  The

United States respectfully reserves its right to supplement its motion by oral argument.

BACKGROUND

On July 12, 2007, a federal Grand Jury sitting in Newark, New Jersey, indicted defendant

SHARPE JAMES on 25 Counts of a 33-Count Indictment related to defendant JAMES’s misuse

and abuse of his authority and discretion as Newark’s then-Mayor and a New Jersey State

Senator.  As detailed in the Indictment, defendant JAMES’s illegal conduct included: (1)

improperly using city-funded credit cards for vacations and other personal expenses, obtaining

unauthorized reimbursements from the City of Newark and misrepresenting to the City of Newark
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that these were legitimate City of Newark expenses; and (2) as Mayor, improperly steering sales

of City-owned property at steeply discounted prices to a companion, defendant TAMIKA RILEY,

and, as Senator, proposing and shepherding legislation to increase his power as Mayor of Newark

to cede City property to defendant RILEY and others.  Defendant JAMES is charged with:

conspiracy/honest services fraud (Count 25); fraud involving a local government receiving federal

funds (Counts 18 to 20 and 24); and mail and wire fraud (Counts 1 to 17 and 21 to 23), in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371, 666(a)(1)(A), 1341 and 1343, and 2,

respectively.  Defendant TAMIKA RILEY also was charged, in Counts 21 through 33 of the

Indictment, for her role in the land scheme and honest services fraud conspiracy, as well as other

offenses, including housing assistance fraud, tax fraud and tax evasion.

Defendant JAMES’s Counsel

As early as on or about August 23, 2006, Raymond M. Brown, Esq., contacted the U.S.

Attorney’s Office to state that he was representing defendant JAMES with regard to any Grand

Jury investigation of defendant JAMES’s conduct while Mayor of Newark.  Mr. Brown, as

defendant JAMES’s counsel, maintained periodic contact with the government since that time,

negotiated defendant JAMES’s self-surrender to authorities on July 12, 2007, and has appeared

on behalf of defendant JAMES as counsel of record in this matter.  It was not until July 23, 2007,

the day of the Arraignment in this case, that Thomas R. Ashley, Esq., first appeared as co-counsel

for defendant JAMES.  Along with Mr. Raymond M. Brown and Mr. Ashley, two additional

attorneys appeared on behalf of defendant JAMES, Raymond A. Brown, Esq., and Jean D.

Barrett, Esq.  At the Arraignment, the government objected to Mr. Ashley’s appearance due to his

past and ongoing representation of the Real Estate Attorney and Individual 1, as well as the fact
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that Mr. Ashley himself could potentially be called as a fact witness in this case.  The Court then

set a briefing schedule on this issue.

Mr. Ashley’s Initial Representation: The Real Estate Attorney

As detailed in the Indictment, with defendant JAMES’s assistance, defendant RILEY

purchased nine properties from the City of Newark at steeply discounted prices and then resold

them for a significant profit.  Defendant RILEY flipped seven of the nine properties without

doing any rehabilitation or improvements, notwithstanding her obligation under contracts with the

City of Newark to substantially rehabilitate the properties.  An individual described herein as the

“Real Estate Attorney” played a significant role in the fraudulent real estate transactions detailed

in the Indictment, including representing the purchasers of approximately eight of the nine

properties that defendant RILEY resold after obtaining them from Newark.  The Real Estate

Attorney also, at one time, had a partnership with an attorney who represented defendant RILEY

in approximately seven of those real estate transactions, as well as in other business and financial

matters.

On or about January 19, 2007, law enforcement agents sought to interview the Real

Estate Attorney.  At that time, the Real Estate Attorney refused to speak with law enforcement

agents and informed the agents that she had retained counsel.  Shortly thereafter, Mr. Ashley

informed the government that he represented the Real Estate Attorney.  By letter to Mr. Ashley

dated February 9, 2007, the government stated, in substance and in part, that, “While [the Real

Estate Attorney] is not a target of the investigation at this time, she may be a subject.”  Mr.

Ashley declined the government’s request for a proffer session with the Real Estate Attorney. 

Subsequently, the Real Estate Attorney received Grand Jury subpoenas requiring testimony and

Case 2:07-cr-00578-WJM   Document 13   Filed 08/02/07   Page 5 of 19 PageID: 116



2 Defendant RILEY purchased the Alpine Street property from the City of Newark
on or about February 17, 2005, for approximately $8,000, and resold it, as-is, on or about
October 31, 2005, for approximately $150,000, thereby reaping a gross profit of approximately
$142,000 from that transaction. (Ind. at 62-65 ¶ 12(H)-(L).) 

6

documents.  Through Mr. Ashley, the Real Estate Attorney produced documents regarding a

number of the real estate transactions and provided a letter stating that she was unable to locate

additional documents that she formerly possessed which were responsive to the subpoena.  On or

about June 21, 2007, Mr. Ashley accompanied the Real Estate Attorney to the Courthouse for a

scheduled Grand Jury appearance; the Real Estate Attorney testified while Mr. Ashley waited

outside the Grand Jury room.  The government currently is waiting to hear from Mr. Ashley

regarding certain follow-up matters involving the Real Estate Attorney.  At this time, the

government expects to call the Real Estate Attorney as a trial witness.

Mr. Ashley’s Second Representation:  Individual 1

Meanwhile, on or about January 29, 2007, law enforcement agents served Grand Jury

subpoenas for testimony and documents on the person identified in the Indictment as Individual 1. 

As set forth in the Indictment, Individual 1 is close to both defendants JAMES and RILEY, and

was involved in a number of financial transactions with defendant RILEY pertaining to defendant

RILEY’s purchase and resale of Newark properties.  (Ind. at 50 ¶ 9(S), 52 ¶ 9(V) and (X), 64 ¶

12(K), 65 ¶ 12(L).)  Individual 1, a licensed real estate broker in New Jersey, also acted as

defendant RILEY’s realtor when, in or about October 2005, defendant RILEY flipped the

property at 86-88 West Alpine Street without rehabilitating or making any improvements to the

property as she was required to do under the purchase contract with the City of Newark. (Ind. at

64-65 ¶ 12(L).)2  In addition to her personal, financial and business relationship with defendant
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RILEY, Individual 1 is a friend of defendant JAMES and has known him since the 1980s. 

Defendant JAMES has obtained hundreds of thousands of dollars for Individual 1's organization

in the form of loans and state grants – including the same type of state grant that defendant

JAMES unsuccessfully sought for defendant RILEY, as discussed in the Indictment.  (Ind. at 4 ¶

3, 62 ¶12(F), 73-74 ¶ 4(D) and (E)(iii) and 76 ¶ 5-Q.) 

Shortly after law enforcement agents served Individual 1 with the Grand Jury subpoenas

on or about January 29, 2007, Mr. Ashley informed the government that he would be representing

Individual 1 in this matter.  At that time, the government expressed concern that an ethical

conflict existed with regard to Mr. Ashley’s dual representation of the Real Estate Attorney and

Individual 1, that waivers may not be sufficient under the circumstances, and that if Mr. Ashley

continued to represent both Individual 1 and the Real Estate Attorney, he ultimately risked being

ethically barred and disqualified from representing one or both of those individuals at a future

time.  The government also informed Mr. Ashley that, at that time, Individual 1 was a subject of

the Grand Jury’s investigation.  On or about February 21, 2007, Mr. Ashley’s Law Office3 sent

the government waivers of any conflict of interest, which were typed on Mr. Ashley’s letterhead

and signed by the Real Estate Attorney and Individual 1.  (Those waivers, dated February 9, 2007

and February 21, 2007, are attached hereto, under seal, as Ex. 1.)

 Between in or about February 2007 and in or about June 2007, Mr. Ashley declined the

government’s offers to appear with Individual 1 for a proffer session and later informed the

government that Individual 1 would assert the Fifth Amendment if called to testify under oath
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before the Grand Jury.  Mr. Ashley accompanied both Individual 1 and the Real Estate Attorney

to scheduled Grand Jury appearances on or about June 21, 2007; on that day, Mr. Ashley

confirmed that Individual 1 would assert the Fifth Amendment before the Grand Jury. 

Subsequently, on or about June 26, 2007, Mr. Ashley accompanied Individual 1 for a proffer

session with the government.  Currently, the government is waiting to receive from Mr. Ashley,

on behalf of Individual 1 and Individual 1's organization, additional documents and information

pursuant to pending requests.  The government may call Individual 1 as a trial witness.

Mr. Ashley As A Fact Witness

During the investigation, the government learned that Mr. Ashley also is a fact witness

who potentially could be called to testify at trial.  Among the personal trips that defendant

JAMES took at Newark’s expense, as detailed in the Indictment (Counts 1 to 20 and 24), is a

personal trip that defendant JAMES took to Martha’s Vineyard with Companion 4 and others in

or about August 2003.  During that trip, defendant JAMES caused the City of Newark to incur

approximately $3,942.94 in improper credit card charges, including for two hotel rooms used by

defendant JAMES, Companion 4, and another couple vacationing with them, restaurant charges,

and transportation expenses including rental of a convertible car, ferry fees and train fare.  (Ind. at

14-17.)  Mr. Ashley and other witnesses have confirmed that Mr. Ashley was at Martha’s

Vineyard during the same time as defendant JAMES, and that defendant JAMES, Companion 4

and another couple visited with Mr. Ashley on his boat while it was docked at Martha’s Vineyard. 

Mr. Ashley has confirmed that, like defendant JAMES, he has regularly traveled to Martha’s

Vineyard for extended weekends in late summer.  Accordingly, in addition to representing two

possible trial witnesses who were involved in the real estate and financial transactions detailed in
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the Indictment, Mr. Ashley himself may be called to testify at trial regarding one or more of

defendant JAMES’s trips to Martha’s Vineyard.  (Whether the government will in fact decide to

call Mr. Ashley at trial remains an open issue.)

Mr. Ashley also is related to an individual whom the government likely will call as a

witness at trial.  To the extent Mr. Ashley has had personal conversations with that family

member during the events at issue in this case, or otherwise obtained personal knowledge

regarding the issues in this case, that is another basis for Mr. Ashley potentially to be called as a

fact witness in this matter.

The facts of this case and governing law demonstrate that Mr. Ashley should be

disqualified from representing defendant JAMES in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Ashley Must be Disqualified Based Upon an Actual Conflict of Interest
That Cannot be Waived                                                                                        

Mr. Ashley’s representation of defendant JAMES creates an actual conflict of interest

that cannot be waived.  An actual conflict exists here because Mr. Ashley represents two

witnesses who were substantially involved in the real estate and financial transactions detailed in

the Indictment.  These witnesses may be called to testify at trial, and thereby subject to cross-

examination by Mr. Ashley or a member of his defense team.  This would put Mr. Ashley in the

impermissible position of divided loyalties, risk revealing attorney-client privileged

communications, and jeopardize the integrity of the judicial proceedings and public interest in a

fair trial and lasting verdict.  Also, Mr. Ashley himself has personal knowledge of events in the

Indictment and could be called as a fact witness at trial, thereby placing him in the untenable
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position of being both an advocate and a witness.  Defendant JAMES, the Real Estate Attorney

and Individual 1 all have a constitutional right to conflict-free representation; the Real Estate

Attorney and Individual 1 each has a right to have attorney-client communications respected, and

all parties involved, including defendants JAMES and RILEY, as well as the Court and the

public, have the right to proceedings that protect the integrity of the legal system and the finality

of the verdict.  For these reasons, Mr. Ashley must be disqualified.

A. There is an Actual Conflict of Interest in Mr. Ashley’s
Representation of Defendant JAMES                              

The Sixth Amendment guarantees that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall

enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." U.S. Const. amend. VI; 

United States v. Morrison, 449 U.S. 361, 364 (1981); Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 818

(1975).  This constitutional guarantee includes “a correlative right to representation that is free

from conflicts of interest.” United States v. Levy, 25 F.3d 146, 152 (2d Cir. 1994).  Addressing

this issue, the Supreme Court in Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 159 (1988), stated:

While the right to select and be represented by one’s preferred attorney is
comprehended by the Sixth Amendment, the essential aim of the Amendment is to
guarantee an effective advocate for each criminal defendant rather than to ensure
that a defendant will inexorably be represented by the lawyer whom he prefers.

Because the right to counsel does not ensure that a defendant will always be represented by the

lawyer he prefers, a Court may override a defendant's choice of counsel where a serious conflict

of interest exists.  See id. at 159-60.  See also In re Paradyne Corp., 803 F.2d 604, 611, n.16 (9th

Cir. 1986) (the right of counsel "does not override the broader societal interests in the effective

administration of justice . . . or in the maintenance of 'public confidence in the integrity of our

legal system'" (citations omitted)); In re Grand Jury Subpoena Served Upon Doe, 781 F.2d 238,
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251 (2d Cir. 1985) ("[C]ourts have the power and duty to disqualify counsel where the public

interest in maintaining the integrity of the judicial system outweighs the accused's constitutional

right.").

Courts have been given broad latitude to disqualify attorneys, not only in instances when

an actual conflict is found, but when there is a showing of a serious potential for conflict. 

Wheat, 486 U.S. at 164;  United States v. Moscony, 927 F.2d 742, 750 (3d Cir. 1991).  As the

Third Circuit set forth in Moscony, a District Court must balance three important rights in

determining whether disqualification of counsel for a defendant in a criminal case is warranted. 

First, a criminal defendant is constitutionally entitled to effective assistance of counsel; that right

includes representation that is free of conflicts of interest.  Moscony, 927 F.2d at 748.  Counsel’s

undivided loyalty is necessary to ensure that counsel advocates his client's case without

reservation and that the government's proofs against the defendant are tested in an adversarial

manner.  Id.  Second, a defendant has a presumptive constitutional right to counsel of his or her

choice.  Id.; Wheat, 486 U.S. at 159.  Third, against these Sixth Amendment rights, the Court

must balance the ethical rules of conduct that govern the legal profession and certain concerns

that are necessary to preserve the institutional integrity of the courts and the adversarial process. 

Moscony, 927 F.2d at 748-49.  Although the right to counsel of choice exists, this right is not

absolute.  United States v. Voigt, 89 F.3d 1050, 1074 (3d Cir.1996) ("[W]here considerations of

judicial administration supervene, the presumption in favor of counsel of choice is rebutted and

the right must give way." (citation and quotation omitted)).  The Supreme Court has determined

that the presumption in favor of a defendant's counsel of choice may be overcome by either an

actual conflict of interest or "a showing of a serious potential for conflict."  Wheat, 486 U.S. at
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164.  

An actual, or serious potential for, conflict exists whenever a defense attorney has

represented a potential testifying government witness.  Divided loyalties, and consequent

conflicts, arise when an attorney is placed in a position of cross-examining his former client. 

Moscony, 927 F.2d at 750.  The presumption is irrefutable that confidences will be disclosed. 

United States v. Provenzano, 620 F.2d 985, 1004-05 (3d Cir. 1980).  The danger is real that

attorneys will use their confidential discussions with their former clients to cross-examine and

impeach them.  Moscony, 927 F.2d at 750.  As the Third Circuit stated in Moscony: “Conflicts

of interest arise whenever an attorney’s loyalties are divided . . . and an attorney who cross-

examines former clients inherently encounters divided loyalties.”  Id. (internal citations omitted). 

The essence of this conflict was summarized by Judge Lechner in United States v. Cannistraro,

794 F. Supp. 1313, 1323 (D.N.J. 1992):

When the Government calls a witness whom defense counsel has
previously represented, a conflict of interest arises because defense
counsel has a  duty to vigorously cross-examine the witness and may
reveal confidential information in the process.  In the alternative, defense
counsel may breach his duty to vigorously represent the defendant in fear
of divulging confidences of the Government witness.

The conflict is the insoluble one the attorney finds himself in of divulging the witness's

confidences or refraining from proper representation of the defendant.  

The government need not demonstrate that a former client has confidences to protect

because the attorney's knowledge of privileged information from his former client is

conclusively presumed.  Provenzano, 620 F.2d at 1005.  The Provenzano Court noted that: 

"although the district judge did not make explicit findings that (the attorney) knew specific facts

that would have involved him in conflict, the District Court correctly concluded that he must
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assume as much."  Id.  Even when an attorney has represented his former client on a matter

unrelated to the trial at hand, and the attorney disavows knowledge of facts leading to the

conflict, it is appropriate to disqualify the attorney.  See United States ex rel. Stewart On Behalf

of Tineo v. Kelly, 870 F.2d 854, 857 (2d Cir. 1989). 

Numerous cases have recognized a conflict where a defense counsel attempts to represent

two individuals whose interests may become contrary to one another.  See, e.g., United States v.

Levy, 25 F.3d 146, 156 (2d Cir. 1994) (finding actual conflict where, inter alia, defense counsel

also represented defendant’s accomplice and hence had a duty to protect accomplice); United

States v. Kenney, 911 F.2d 315, 321-22 (9th Cir. 1990) (ruling disqualification appropriate due

to potential conflict in representing defendant and grand jury witness because one client may

wish to assist prosecution in future); United States v. Hughes, 817 F.2d 268, 271-72 (5th Cir.

1987) (finding conflict in representing four defendants, one of whom pleaded and cooperated;

disqualification appropriate); United States v. Gopman, 531 F.2d 262, 265-66 (5th Cir. 1976)

(affirming disqualification order where “possibility of a conflict” existed when attorney

represented an organizational client such as a labor union, that would have an interest in making

full disclosure, and individual clients who have an interest in resisting disclosure); United States

v. RMI Co., 467 F. Supp. 915, 921 (W.D. Pa. 1979) (holding corporate defendant and its

employees were in an “adversarial posture” that created conflict sufficient to warrant

disqualification); In re Grand Jury Proceedings, 428 F. Supp. 273, 277 (E.D. Mich. 1976)

(finding actual conflict where one attorney represents an immunized witness and a target,

because it would be in the immunized witness’s interest to make full disclosure).
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The conclusion that defense counsel should be disqualified is virtually inescapable when

viewed in light of the weight of authority suggesting that separate counsel should be retained

when clients’ competing interests may be at stake.  As the Supreme Court of the State of New

Jersey has stated:

The first version of the ABA Canons of Ethics, promulgated in 1908 and adopted
that year in New Jersey, prohibited representation of a client when that
undertaking would require an attorney to take a position adverse to another
client's interests.  Note, Developments in the Law: Conflicts of Interest in the
Legal Profession, 94 Harv. L. Rev. 1244 (1981); see also In re Kamp, 40 N.J. 588,
595,  (1963).  Our Rules of Professional Conduct continue unabated that
prohibition.  A lawyer may not represent a client if the representation would be
directly adverse to another client, R.P.C. 1.7, and that conflict is imputed to all
members of a law firm, disqualifying all if any one would be disqualified.  R.P.C.
1.10.  

State ex rel. S.G., 175 N.J. 132, 138-39 (2003).4  It is appropriate for a District Court to
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disqualify a criminal defendant’s chosen counsel when a conflict of interest impairs that

counsel’s ability to adequately represent the interests of each of his clients, as the ethical rules

require.  United States v. Dolan, 570 F.2d 1177, 1184 (3d Cir. 1978).  In upholding a District

Court’s decision to disqualify an attorney based on such a conflict, the Dolan Court held:

Such representation not only constitutes a breach of professional ethics and
invites disrespect for the integrity of the court, but it is also detrimental to the
independent interest of the trial judge to be free from future attacks over the
adequacy of the waiver or the fairness of the proceedings in his own court and the
subtle problems implicating the defendant’s comprehension of the waiver.

570 F.2d at 1184.  

Disqualification of an attorney also is warranted where, as here, the attorney has personal

knowledge of events in the indictment and potentially could be called as a fact witness at trial. 

As the Third Circuit has stated, “disqualification may also be appropriate where it is based solely

on a lawyer’s personal knowledge of events likely to be presented at trial, even if the lawyer is

unlikely to be called as a witness.”  United States v. Merlino, 349 F.3d 144, 152 (3d Cir. 2003)

(recognizing “it is often impermissible for an attorney to be both an advocate and a witness”). 

See also Cannistraro, 794 F. Supp. at 1322 (disqualifying attorney whose testimony could be

used to corroborate evidence the government may have).

The facts of the present case demonstrate a conflict so severe that Mr. Ashley cannot be

permitted to continue to represent defendant JAMES.  Mr. Ashley is in a position that the ethical

rules and governing case law prohibit.  Prior to appearing on behalf of defendant JAMES, Mr.

Ashley already was in a precarious position of representing two individuals, who were both

identified as subjects of the investigation, and who are inextricably involved in the real estate

and financial transactions at issue in this case.  The government may call one or both of those
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individuals to testify at trial.  Moreover, Mr. Ashley himself could be called as a trial witness to

corroborate information the government has regarding defendant JAMES’s personal trip to

Martha’s Vineyard in or about August 2003.  For the foregoing reasons, defense counsel should

be disqualified from representation of defendant JAMES in connection with this case. 

B. The Conflict Cannot Be Waived

The conflict presented in this case cannot adequately be waived.  The Sixth-Amendment

right to counsel of choice must give way when it is outweighed by considerations of judicial

administration.  Voigt, 89 F.3d at 1074.  Here, there exists an actual conflict or, at a minimum, a

potential for conflict so serious that a waiver would be inappropriate.  This is because allowing

Mr. Ashley to continue as defendant JAMES’s co-counsel would: undermine the integrity of the

judicial proceedings; threaten to expose confidential attorney-client communications; place Mr.

Ashley in an untenable ethical bind of divided loyalties; risk that Mr. Ashley will be acting as

both advocate and witness in this case; and, ultimately, threaten the propriety and permanency of

a verdict in this case upon appellate or collateral review.

The District Court has the power to disqualify counsel in the interest of the fair and

orderly administration of justice, regardless of the client's desire to waive the conflict.  See, e.g.,

Moscony, 927 F.2d at 750; United States v. Pungitore, 910 F.2d 1084, 1143 (3d Cir. 1990); see

also Dolan, 570 F.2d at 1182 (court’s supervisory power justified disqualification in spite of

express waiver).  The United States Supreme Court has recognized that “the likelihood and

dimensions of nascent conflicts of interest are notoriously hard to predict.”  Wheat, 486 U.S. at

162-63.  Accordingly, trial Courts are afforded “substantial latitude in refusing waivers of
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conflicts of interest” not only in cases where an actual conflict may be demonstrated before trial,

but also “in the more common cases where a potential for conflict exists which may or may not

burgeon into an actual conflict as trial progresses.”  Id. at 163; Moscony, 927 F.2d at 750.  The

Third Circuit recognizes that the trial Court has the right to reject a purported waiver in light of

the Court’s “institutional interest in protecting the truth-seeking function of the proceedings” and

also the Court’s “independent interest in protecting a fairly-rendered verdict from trial tactics

that may be designed to generate issues on appeal.”  Moscony, 927 F.2d at 749.  Moreover, in

certain cases, even where waivers have been executed, appellate courts have overturned verdicts,

finding that an unwaivable conflict of interest denied defendant the Constitutionally-mandated

effective assistance of trial counsel.  See United States v. Schwarz, 238 F.3d 76 (2d Cir. 2002)

(reversing conviction of defendant police officer in sexual assault of detainee where unwaivable

conflict of interest denied defendant effective assistance of counsel, finding “prejudice is

presumed” when an actual conflict of interest exists).  Accordingly, the presumption in favor of a

defendant’s chosen counsel “may be overcome not only by a demonstration of actual conflict but

by a showing of a serious potential conflict.”  Wheat, 486 U.S. at 164.  See also, United States v.

Flanagan, 679 F.2d 1072, 1076 (3d Cir. 1982) (a trial court may refuse a waiver when “the

materialization of an actual conflict is very likely"); United States v. Garafola, 428 F. Supp. 620,

625 (D.N.J. 1977) (“right to effective representation by [unconflicted] counsel” may take

precedence over right to counsel of choice); United States v. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. 64, 71

(S.D.N.Y. 1993) (rejecting waiver of defendants charged with conspiracy to bomb buildings and

tunnels in New York); United States v. Locascio, 6 F.3d 924, 934 (2d Cir. 1993) (affirming

disqualification of counsel chosen by John Gotti, despite waiver). 
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In this case, where (i) Mr. Ashley has represented (and continues to represent) not only

one but two witnesses who were inextricably involved in the transactions at issue in this case and

those witnesses may be called to testify for the government at trial, and (ii) Mr. Ashley himself

has personal knowledge of events and could corroborate the government’s evidence regarding

those events, the presumption of prejudice is so great that disqualification is the only effective

remedy.  Consent may not be sufficient to allow a representation to proceed because R.P.C. 1.7

establishes that in certain cases involving conflicts or apparent conflicts, consent may be

immaterial; and, even the "appearance of impropriety" absent an actual conflict might require an

attorney to decline representation.  R.P.C. 1.7(c).  

Mr. Ashley’s involvement in this case poses just such a threat to the integrity and fairness

of the judicial process.  Accordingly, the Court should disqualify Mr. Ashley in this case

irrespective of whether his clients would consent to the representation.  As Judge Lechner

concluded when faced with a similar issue in Cannistraro: “This is a complex case and the

dynamics of the trial are, to be sure, unpredictable.  In light of the complexity of the case and the

magnitude of the potential conflicts of interest in this case, waiver is inappropriate.”  794 F.

Supp. at 163.  Mr. Ashley’s emergence now as co-counsel to defendant JAMES creates a welter

of ethical conflicts which swells the appearance of impropriety beyond that which any possible

waiver could subdue.

II. At a Minimum, A Hearing Should Be Held To Determine Whether Waivers Would
Be Adequate or Proper in This Matter                                                                              

Alternatively, if the Court does not conclude that a substantial actual or potential conflict

exists warranting disqualification, at a minimum, a hearing should be held to determine whether
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waivers adequately and properly could be secured in this case.  See Dolan, 570 F.2d at 1181-82.

  CONCLUSION

    For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant the motion of the United States for

disqualification of defense counsel Thomas R. Ashley, Esq. 

Respectfully submitted,

CHRISTOPHER J. CHRISTIE
United States Attorney

s/Judith H. Germano

By:JUDITH H. GERMANO
Assistant U.S. Attorney

Date: August 2, 2007
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : Hon. William J. Martini
:
:

v. : Crim. No. 07-578
:

SHARPE JAMES and :
TAMIKA RILEY : ORDER

This matter having been opened to the Court on the motion of the United States of

America by Christopher J. Christie, United States Attorney for the District of New Jersey (Judith

H. Germano and Phillip H. Kwon, Assistant U.S. Attorneys, and Perry Primavera, Special

Assistant U.S. Attorney, appearing), for an Order disqualifying defense counsel Thomas R.

Ashley, Esq. from representing defendant SHARPE JAMES, and the Court having considered

the papers submitted and arguments advanced by the parties, and good cause having been shown, 

IT IS, on this _______ day of                         , 2007,

ORDERED that, defense attorney Thomas R. Ashley, Esq. is hereby disqualified

from further representation of defendant SHARPE JAMES in this matter.

                                                        
HON. WILLIAM J. MARTINI
United States District Judge
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